1963

State of Utah v. Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer each appeal from a conviction of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Tooele County, State of Utah, sitting with a jury, found Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer both guilty of the offenses of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary, and sentenced each of the defendants to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term as provided by law, said sentences to run consecutively.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer each seek a reversal of the Judgment and Sentence of the District Court in and for Tooele County, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 22, 1962, a complaint was filed in the City Court of Tooele City, Tooele County, State of Utah, charging both Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer with committing the crimes of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary on the 21st day of October, 1962.

On November 30, 1962, a preliminary hearing was held before the Honorable M. Earl Marshall, City Judge of Tooele City, at which time both offenses, upon stipulation of the parties, were heard together, and upon order of the Court both defendants were bound over for trial in the Third District Court in and for Tooele County, State of Utah.

Informations were thereupon filed against the defendants by the District Attorney of the Third Judicial District charging both the defendants with the crimes of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary.

A notice of alibi and a request for a polygraph examination was filed with the District Court by Robert B. Hansen, attorney for the defendants, and thereafter a stipulation was entered into by and between the defendants, their attorney Robert B. Hansen and the District Attorney respecting the admission into evidence of the

results of a polygraph test to be administered to Hugh F. Rowley, the results thereof to be used by the defendants or the State of Utah, regardless of the results of said test.

A trial was thereupon held at Tooele, Utah, before the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, one of the Judges of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Tooele County, State of Utah, sitting with a jury, on January 18, 1963, both offenses being joined for trial. Proceedings were then had which resulted in the conviction of both defendants on charges of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary, and it is submitted that certain errors were committed by the Court during the trial of the case, said assignments of error being set out and discussed fully in the points hereunder, said errors constituting and being reversible error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HEREIN, WHICH IS CERTIFIED TO CONTAIN A FULL, TRUE AND COMPLETE TRANSCRIPT OF SAID PROCEEDINGS, EXCEPT AS THE SAME ARE DISPENSED WITH BY THE COURT, DOES NOT INDICATE OR SHOW ANY EVIDENCE THAT THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 77-31-1(1), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, WERE COMPLIED WITH AS REQUIRED BY THE STATUTE.

The applicable provisions of Section 77-31-1(1) provide as follows:

77-31-1. Order of trial. — The jury having been impanelled and sworn, the trial must proceed in the following order:

(1) If the information or indictment is for a felony, the clerk must read it and state the plea of the defendant to the jury. In all other cases this formality may be dispensed with.

The Court, after the jury was impanelled and sworn, mentioned to the jury (R. p. 3, lines 7-9) that each of the defendants had entered a plea of not guilty to the charges, but there is no mention or evidence in the record on appeal that the clerk read the informations to the jury as provided for under Section 77-31-1(1) for the offenses of assault with a deadly weapon and attempted second degree burglary as required under said section and which is the first order of trial with which the Court must proceed after the jury is impanelled.

The purpose of reading the information and stating the plea of the defendant thereto to the jury has been defined and clarified by two decisions of the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court in the case of *State v. Solomon*, 93 U. 70, 77; 71 P.2d 104, (1937), stated in substance that under the statute requiring the clerk to read the information and state the plea to the jury, the purpose of reading the information being to inform the jury of the nature of the charge and issue before it for trial.

This position was again reiterated and reaffirmed by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *State v. Spencer*, 101 U. 274, 281; 117 P.2d 455, 458, (1941) rehearing denied 101 U. 287, 289; 121 P.2d 912, 913, (1942), wherein the Court stated:

The provision for reading the information to

the jury, and stating the plea of the defendant (Section 105-32-1, R.S.U. 1933), is in order that the jury may be informed of the charge and the issues before it for trial. Thus even the jury must understand from the information, not aided by the bill of particulars, what and which offense as defined by the statute it is charged defendant committed.

The Court on rehearing further stated :

The issues established by an information or a complaint and the plea of not guilty thereto constitute the foundation of each criminal trial. Upon those issues the relevancy of the proffered evidence is determined.

It is therefore imperative to protect the rights of the defendants that the provisions of Section 77-31-1(1) be fully and completely complied with so that the jury, before the evidence pro and con is presented, is fully appraised of the charges against the defendant contained in the information so that it can weigh the evidence as received as it relates to the charges.

POINT II.

THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE AN INSTRUCTION AS TO THE EFFECT OF A STIPULATION FOR THE TAKING OF A POLYGRAPH TEST BY HUGH F. ROWLEY AND AS TO THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH THE RESULTS OF SAID TEST ARE ADMISSIBLE AND THE WEIGHT TO BE GIVEN TO SAID RESULTS.

In the case at bar, the following stipulation in regard to the results of the lie-detector test on Hugh F. Rowley was made between the defense and the prosecution (R. 86, lines 10-24) :

MR. HANSEN: We would like to make a stipulation in regard to a polygraph test with the defendant, Hugh Rowley.

May it be stipulated, Robert McManama, an officer in the Salt Lake City Police Department gave a polygraph test to Hugh Rowley, that Mr. McManama is a qualified person to give such examination; that Mr. Rowley denied he had anything to do with these particular offenses, and that Officer McManama was of the opinion he was not telling the truth when he made these statements;

It is also requested that the District Attorney stipulate at the present time, the degree of accuracy of the polygraph tests is approximately 99 degrees accurate.

May it be so stipulated?

MR. BLACK: We are certainly agreeable to that stipulationn, your Honor.

It should be noted that the examiner was never called to testify as to the results; it being stipulated that he was qualified, that the accuracy of the tests was approximately 99 degrees accurate, and that he was of the opinion that Mr. Rowley was lying when he denied anything to do with the particular offenses. The court failed to give any instruction relative to the effect of this stipulation.

There has been a great deal of judicial reluctance to recognize the worth of lie-detector evidence in the court room. The Oklahoma Criminal Court of Appeals in the case of *Henderson v. State*, 230 P. 2d 495, 23 ALR 2d 1292 (1951) in affirming a first degree rape conviction quoted

from leading authorities on the subject of lie-detector tests which pointed out some of the chief difficulties in the diagnosis of deception by the lie-detector technique, which are fully set forth in the body of the opinion.

The Supreme Court of Arizona in a recent decision explained at great length the effect of a lie-detector stipulationn. *State v. Valdez*, 91 Ariz. 274, 371 P2d 895, 900-901 (1962). In that case the defendant was tried and convicted of possessing narcotics, who, together with the county attorney and his counsel, stipulated to a poly-graph examination, said stipulation providing that the test would be admissible at the trial. The operator was permitted, over the objections of the defendant, to testify as to the results of the examination. The court then, pursuant to Rule 346 of the Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure, after the jury returned a verdict of guilty and before sentence was entered, certified the issue of the admissibility of the test to the Supreme Court of Arizona.

The court held, this being a case of first impression in Arizona, that the the results of a lie-detector test upon stipulation are admissible to corroborate other evidence of defendant's participation in the crime charged, but with the following qualifications and limitations expressed by the court:

That if such evidence is admitted the trial judge should instruct the jury that the examiner's testimony does not tend to prove or disprove any element of the crime with which a defendant is charged but at most tends only to indicate that

at the time of the examination defendant was not telling the truth. Further, the jury members should be instructed that it is for them to determine what corroborative weight and effect such testimony should be given. *State v. Valdez*, supra.

In the case at bar there is not only an absence of an instruction to guide the jury in determining the weight, relevance and effect of this stipulation, which is essential, but the jury never had the opportunity to hear directly from the examiner as to his findings or to learn of the condition and circumstances surrounding the test. Furthermore, the stipulation is so ambiguous, uncertain and indefinite as to the exact results of the test as to mislead and confuse the jury, the inference being, in the absence of an instruction by the court, that the stipulation on behalf of the defendant Hugh F. Rowley, was tantamount to a confession on his part.

It is, therefore, submitted that the trial court committed reversible and prejudicial error in not instructing the jury as to the effect of this stipulation regarding the lie detector test. The said instruction should have contained the charge that the results of a lie-detector test do not tend to prove or disprove any element of the crime with which the defendant is charged, *but at most tends only to indicate that at the time of the examination the defendant was not telling the truth*. It should again be reiterated and emphasized that the stipulation in question did not reveal the exact results of the test, but only indicated in the opinion of the examiner, who was not even present at the trial, that the defendant, Hugh F. Rowley, was lying when he stated that he had nothing to

do with the particular offenses.

POINT III.

THE COURT, IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY (INSTRUCTION NO. 5-B) REGARDING THE ELEMENTS NECESSARY TO CONSTITUTE ATTEMPTED SECOND DEGREE BURGLARY, COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE NECESSITY OF FINDING THAT THE CRIME WAS NOT COMMITTED DUE TO SOME AGENCY OR FORCE NOT SET IN MOTION BY THE DEFENDANTS.

Section 76-1-30, Utah Code Annotated 1953, defines an attempt as:

Any act done with intent to commit a crime,
and tending but failing to effect its commission,

In the case of *State v. Prince*, 75 Utah 205, 214; 284 P. 108, 111, the Utah Supreme Court in commenting what constitutes an attempt under Section 76-1-30, Utah Code Annotated 1953, held that the failure to consummate the crime is an essential element where the charge is an attempt to commit a crime. The court, in instructing the jury as to the necessary elements constituting the crime of attempt to commit extortion, stated:

If you believe therefore from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant intended to commit the crime of extortion as charged in the information and coupled with that intent did some act or acts charged in the information but failed to effect the commission of the completed crime through the intervention of some agency not set in motion by the defendant himself then you should find the defendant guilty of

an attempt to commit the crime of extortion. *State v. Prince*, supra.

In the case at bar the court in its Instruction No. 5-B did not define and make clear this element in its charge to the jury and therefore committed reversible error. The instruction is as follows:

Before you can convict a defendant of attempted burglary in the Second Degree, you must believe from the evidence, and be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that each of the following elements are true:

1. That the defendant being considered, on or about the 21st of October, 1962, in the county of Tooele, State of Utah, did an act with intent to unlawfully enter the building of the J. C. Penney Company.

(2) That the intent of the said defendant was to enter the said building by forcibly breaking into the said building.

(3) That the said defendant at the said time of the act, if any, was intending to commit larceny in the said building.

(4) That the said act, if any, was done in the night time with an intent at said time and place to enter the said building.

It should be noted that the court, while mentioning the elements of intent to commit the crime and the performance of some act toward the commission of the crime, did not make mention or instruct the jury as to the necessary element of a failure to consummate the crime through the intervention of a force or agency independent of the defendants.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 5-C IN CHARGING THE JURY AS TO WHAT CONSTITUTES A PRINCIPAL AS DEFINED IN SECTION 76-1-44, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, THERE NOT BEING SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE GIVING OF THIS CHARGE.

The court in its Instruction No. 5-C to the jury embodied in the charge the language of Section 76-1-44, Utah Code Annotated 1953, which defines principals to a crime as:

All persons concerned in the commission of a crime, either felony or misdemeanor, whether they directly commit the act constituting the offense or aid and abet in its commission ***

The case of *State v. Baum*, 47 Utah 7, 9; 151 P. 518, 519 (1915) held that before the language of the Utah statute on "Principals," now Section 76-1-44, Utah Code Annotated 1953, may be contained in a charge, the pleadings and the evidence must sustain it. In the *Baum* case the defendant was convicted of burglary in the second degree. On appeal the Supreme Court of Utah held that the jury erred in using the language of the section on "Principals" and instructing the jury concerning defendant's part in the crime charged, there not being sufficient evidence to sustain such a charge. The court stated:

There was no evidence to show, and no one claimed, that the defendant but aided or abetted in the commission of the offense, or, not being present, advised or encouraged its commission. There, hence, was no occasion to give that kind of a charge. Under the circumstances, we think it was misleading and harmful. *State v. Baum*, supra.

In the case at bar, even assuming that the state has established, that the defendants were both at the scene of the crime, there is a lack of evidence to justify the giving of Instruction No. 5-C by the court to the jury. If the defendants are guilty, one of them committing the crimes charged and the other being a principal, which one of the defendants for instance attempted burglary and which of the defendants aided or abetted?

In regard to the defendant, Hugh F. Rowley, and his alleged participation in the crimes, the only evidence possibly connecting him to the offenses charged is that there might have been a similarity between his shoes and the heel prints taken from the roof of a building near the scene of the crime (R. 66, lines 19 through 30), together with the evidence of James Portwood, a witness for the prosecution, who testified that there were two people in the car that drove away after the shooting. Portwood, however, testified that he could not tell whether the occupants of the car were men or women (R. 36, lines 5 through 6), the only other evidence being that the defendants, Rowley and Spencer, were picked up in a car that Portwood testified was the same one that drove away from the scene of the crime (R. 37, lines 7 through 17). It is, therefore, submitted that the evidence in this case is not sufficient to justify the giving of Instruction No. 5-C and that the court committed reversible error in so doing.

It should also be noted that Sheriff Fay Gillette on cross-examination as to whether any attempt had been made to identify Spencer and Rowley by anyone who

was present at the scene of the crime responded as follows:

Q. Was there any attempt made to identify Mr. Spencer and Mr. Rowley by anyone who was at the scene of this crime that night? (R. 72, lines 29 through 30; R. 73, line 1).

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us when that attempted identification was made? And who was present, and what the results were?

A. I think it was the 23rd.

I think Mr. Jensen, and Sidney Smith were present.

But I do not know what the result was, because I was with the prisoners in the line-up, and I was not over on the other side, so I do not know what the result was.

Q. Who was conducting the line-up?

A. I think Deputy Sheriff Pitt was conducting the line-up.

MR. HANSEN: I think that is all. (R. 73, lines 2 through 12).

Deputy Sheriff Pitt, nor anyone for that matter, was called by the State to identify the defendants, Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer, as being the individuals who committed the crimes.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that in view of the assignments of error as brought out in the points of this brief that the sentence and judgment of the Trial Court should be reversed.