1963

State of Utah v. Hugh F. Rowley and Donald Spencer : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE APPELLANTS HAVE NO BASIS TO CLAIM ANY ERROR REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THEIR CONVICTIONS WITH REFERENCE TO THE READING OF THE INFORMATION SINCE:

- A. THERE IS A PRESUMPTION OF REGULARITY OF JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS UNLESS AFFIRMATIVELY PROVED TO THE CONTRARY AND NO AFFIRMATIVE EVIDENCE APPEARS TO REFUTE THE PRESUMPTION.
- B. APPELLANTS WAIVED ANY ERROR BY FAILING TO OBJECT.
- C. ANY SUCH ERROR WAS A MINOR IRREGULARITY THAT COULD NOT HAVE PREJUDICED THEIR CASE.

The appellants contend that there was a failure, at trial, to read the information and plea of the appellants to the jury, and that this was such an error as to vitiate their convictions. It is submitted that there was no such error. The transcript of the trial reflects that the reporter merely summarized the proceedings that occurred in impaneling the jury and failed to mention that the information was read. There does not appear to have been any objection from defense counsel, which absence would indicate regularity. Additionally, no confusion or questioning from the jury appears of record which would support a conclusion that the information was not read. No affirmative proof appears of record that would result in a conclusion that the provisions of 76-31-1, U.C.A. 1953, requiring the reading of the information

and plea, were not complied with. In 1 Wharton's Criminal Evidence, Sec. 126, it is noted:

"It is rebuttably presumed that the various phases of a criminal prosecution have conformed to the requirements of the law. ***

"All judicial proceedings in courts of general jurisdiction are presumed to be correct and regular, in the absence of proof to the contrary. * * *

"Irregularities or error in the proceedings of courts are never presumed, *but must be affirmatively shown.*" (Emphasis supplied)

See also Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., Sec. 362.

In the instant case, where the record is summarized, and nothing appears therein that would support a showing of a failure to properly conduct the appellants' trial, it must be presumed that proper trial requirements were fully complied with. In *State v. Reay*, 13 Utah 2d 79, 368 P.2d 595 (1962) this court considered a contention that error had been committed in reading to the jury an information for robbery and being an habitual criminal before conviction on the robbery charge. The court rejected the contention, noting:

"The defendant would have us infer from the foregoing that both courts were read to the jury which would have been error. However, such an inference is not justified. In the absence of a showing to the contrary, it is presumed that judicial proceedings were regular in all respects. There is no affirmative showing that the second count of the information was read to the jury at

the start of the trial upon the first charge. The record is devoid of any objection being made with respect to the reading of the information."

Consequently, in the instant case where the reporter has obviously summarized the record, the presumption of regularity of judicial proceedings requires a conclusion that there is no basis for error.

Secondly, it is submitted that even were such an error committed, the appellants may not complain, because they failed to object to the irregularity at the time of its occurrence or any time during trial. In 24 C.J.S., *Criminal Law*, § 1673 (4), it is noted that as a general rule the failure to object to an irregularity will be deemed a waiver, and it is stated:

"The general rule has been applied to objections that the indictment was not read to the jury.
* * *

Numerous courts have ruled that the failure to object to an irregularity in the reading of an indictment or information constitutes a waiver. *Dabney v. Commonwealth*, 226 Ky. 119, 10 S.W. 2d 612 (1928); *Crag v. Commonwealth*, 5 Ky. L. 329; *People v. Moonstan*, 17 Cal. Rptr. 79 (1961); *Orner v. State*, 78 Tex. Cr. 415, 183 S.W. 1172 (1916).

Finally, it is submitted that even were the appellants in a position to claim error, any failure to read the information would at best be harmless error. It is, of course, acknowledged that the purpose of the reading

of the information and plea is to apprise the jury of the forthcoming proceedings, *State v. Solomon*, 93 Utah 70, 71 P.2d 104 (1937), but where no obvious confusion existed, where opening arguments were made, closing arguments given, and instructions rendered, it could hardly be said that the accuseds were prejudiced. In *State v. Telford*, 89 Utah 22, 56 P.2d 1362 (1936), a claim of error was presented before this court based upon a failure of the court to read or state the plea of the defendant of "former conviction" to the information of persistent liquor law violations. This court held the failure to be error, but then stated that the failure must be weighed for specific prejudice. The court found that there was none, noting:

"It appears, therefore, that the proof tendered in support of the plea of former conviction was immaterial and would not have supported it. Failure to read or state to the jury a plea in regard to which there was no evidence to support it is not prejudicial."

Two things should be observed from the Telford case. First, the court expressly noted that the objection was taken which would preserve the issue for appellate review and disallow a presumption of regularity, and, secondly, that the court determined that no prejudice occurred.

In 24A C.J.S., *Criminal Law*, § 1898, p. 957, 1958, it is stated:

"A conviction will not be reversed for errors occurring in the conduct of the trial, where notwithstanding the errors, substantial justice has

been done accused. The rule has been applied to alleged errors as to: * * * reading, or failure to read, the statute, indictment, or plea to the jury."

Many cases have failed to find prejudice from the failure to read an information: *State v. Dawson*, 245 Iowa 747, 63 N.W. 2d 917 (1954); *People v. Ross*, 98 C.A. 2d 805, 221 P.2d 280 (1950); *State v. Ayres*, 70 Ida. 18, 211 P.2d 142. In *Dabney v. Commonwealth*, 226 Ky. 119, 10 S.W. 2d 612 (1928), the court considered a matter identical with that urged here and refused to find error, noting:

"* * * It [the record] further shows that both sides announced ready for trial, and a jury was impaneled and sworn. The bill of exceptions manifests that counsel for the commonwealth and the defendant respectively stated the case to the jury. The testimony was fully heard and strictly confined to the issue made by the indictment and the plea of not guilty. The jury was adequately instructed, and a verdict returned, responding literally to the charge, saying:

'We, the jury, find the defendant, Roy Dabney, guilty as charged in the indictment, and fix his punishment at two years in the state penitentiary.'

"No objections or exceptions on the part of the defendant to a failure, if there was a failure, to read the indictment to the jury or to state his plea, appear in the bill of exceptions. The bill of exceptions does not show affirmatively any such omission.

* * *

"The purpose of the law is fully satisfied when the defendant is informed of the issue which

he has to meet, and the jury is advised of the charge it is called upon to try."

Certainly where the evidence of guilt is as conclusive as it is in the instant case, no prejudice can be claimed. 77-42-1, U.C.A. 1953.

POINT II.

THE APPELLANTS CAN CLAIM NO PREJUDICE FROM THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH REFERENCE TO RECEIPT OF A STIPULATION, PROPOSED AND OFFERED BY DEFENSE COUNSEL, ON THE RESULTS OF A LIE DETECTOR TEST.

The appellants contend that the trial court committed error in failing to give an instruction on the stipulated results of a polygraph test given to the defendant Hugh F. Rowley.¹ The lie detector test was performed on Rowley by his own request. The trial defense counsel filed on January 11, 1963 a "Request for Polygraph Examinations" on behalf of both defendants, which stated:

"The above defendants and witness named hereby request polygraph examinations to aid in determining the truthfulness of their alibi and their declarations of innocence and stipulate the results thereof and any statements made in the course thereof may be admitted in evidence."

On January 21, 1963, the defendants filed a stipulation, which stated:

"In aid of their defenses to the charge of attempted second degree burglary and assault with a deadly weapon alleged to have been committed

in Tooele, City, Utah on or about the 21st day of October 1962, they request that a polygraph test be given to Hugh Rowley and that regardless of results thereof said results may be used either by themselves individually or jointly or by the State of Utah and they herein specifically request and consent to the introduction in evidence of the polygraph test as evidence in their trial by themselves or by the District Attorney in the Third Judicial District Court of Utah, in and for Tooele County."

Thereafter, a statement of defense counsel appeared under the stipulation, which stated:

"Comes now Robert B. Hansen, Attorney for both of the above named defendants, and alleges that he has explained the legal import of the above to each of the defendants prior to their executing their stipulation above and further affirms that they entered into such stipulation upon advise of counsel and without any undue influence or coercion and did so voluntarily. The undersigned as their attorney further agrees and consents to said stipulation."

Thereafter, the District Attorney consented to the stipulation in a one-line acknowledgment.

At the time of trial, defense counsel, not the prosecution, offered the stipulation as to Rowley. The stipulation was merely that Rowley had denied any connection with the offenses, and that the polygraph operator was of the opinion that the defendant was not telling the truth.

1. It should be noted as to this matter that any error that might exist is limited to the defendant Rowley.

No instruction was tendered by the appellant nor was any exception taken to the failure to give an instruction. The appellant relies upon an advisory opinion of the Arizona Supreme Court, *State v. Valdez*, 91 Ariz. 274, 371 P.2d 894 (1962), wherein that court, upon certification after conviction, and without weighing for error, laid down some guidelines for handling the admission on stipulation of the results of lie detector tests. The court said the trial court should instruct the jury on its purpose and weight. It did not state that the failure to do so would be prejudicial error or consider the question of the absence of an instruction or exception.

Several recent cases have allowed the use of stipulated testimony on the results of a lie detector test, apparently allowing their admissibility without reference to limiting instructions. *State v. McNamara*, 104 N.W. 2d 568 (Iowa 1960); *People v. Houser*, 85 Cal. App. 2d 686, 193 P.2d 937.

Consequently, unless there is some substantial prejudice, no error should be allowed to be claimed, especially where the appellant was the moving force for the admission of the testimony, and failed to tender instructions or request any. To now, for the first time on appeal, allow the appellant to claim error, would allow him to benefit by self-induced error. In *State v. Rivenburgh*, 11 Utah 2d 95, 355 P.2d 689 (1960), this court noted:

“It is of course not error for the court not to give an instruction where it is not asked. This assignment of error is without merit.”

In *State v. Miller*, 111 Utah 255, 177 P.2d 727 (1947), this court was presented with a claim that the trial court committed error for failing to instruct on the limited purpose of the use of the defendant's confession. No request for such an instruction had been made. The court noted:

"This requirement that the court instruct 'upon the law applicable to the case' does not place upon the court alone the burden of making up instructions which cover every question which may have arisen in the case.

"The general rule is that unless the party requests an instruction on a special matter he cannot predicate error upon the court's failure to charge. * * * The tenor of the cases we have considered, and here cite, support our holding that this case cannot be returned for a new trial because of the court's failure to give a proper instruction limiting the use of Miller's confession when no such instruction was requested. ***"

This has long been the rule of law in this jurisdiction. *State v. Anderson*, 108 Utah 130, 158 P.2d 127; *People v. Robinson*, 6 Utah 101, 21 Pac. 403; *State v. Woodall*, 6 Utah 2d 8, 305 P.2d 473; *State v. Peterson*, 121 Utah 229, 240 P.2d 504.

Additionally, where no exception was taken to failure to instruct on the effect of lie-detector evidence, no error can be claimed. *State v. Ferguson*, 83 Utah 357, 28 P.2d 175 (1934); Abbott, Criminal Trial Practice, 4th Ed. Sec. 672.

Consequently, appellant Rowley is without a meritorious claim on this point.

POINT III.

APPELLANT CAN CLAIM NO ERROR FROM THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS ON ATTEMPTED BURGLARY SINCE:

- A. NO EXCEPTION WAS TAKEN.
- B. THE ERROR COMPLAINED OF IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE.
- C. NO PREJUDICE COULD HAVE RESULTED.

The appellants contend that the trial court erred in its instruction on the elements of the law of attempt. The appellants contend that the court should have instructed on the failure to consummate the offense. It is submitted that there is no merit to the appellants' contentions.²

First, it is submitted that the appellants have no basis to object, since no exception was taken to the instruction given. 77-37-1, U.C.A. 1953, provides that exceptions to instructions shall be "taken and preserved as in civil cases." The general rule is said to preclude a review of instructions unless an exception has preserved the contention for review on appeal. Thus it is noted in Abbott, Criminal Trial Practice, 4th Ed., Sec. 672:

"The correctness of instructions given or refused cannot be questioned in the appellate court unless a timely exception was saved in the trial court ***."

2. This issue of claimed error goes only to the conviction of the crime of attempted second degree burglary.

The Utah cases have given force to this rule. In *State v. Smith*, 45 Utah 381, 146 Pac. 286 (1915), it was said:

“So it would require hard struggling to defend and support portions of the charge, both as to substance and consistency * * *. But there is no exception, no assignment, and no claim made as to this nor to any portion of the charge. We thus leave that.”

In *State v. Ferguson*, 83 Utah 357, 28 P.2d 175 (1934), it was said:

“Other errors are assigned to instructions given to the jury, but, as no exceptions thereto appear of record, they, of course cannot be considered.”

Subsequent decisions have modified the strict exception rule noted above. Thus, in *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P.2d 952 (1936), it was said:

“We wish not to depart from the rule laid down in this jurisdiction that in ordinary cases on appeal errors relating to instructions or refusing requests to instruct will not be considered or reviewed unless exceptions thereto were properly taken by the party complaining. But in capital cases and in cases of grave and serious charged offenses and convictions of long terms of imprisonment, cases involving the life and liberty of the citizen, we think that when palpable error is made to appear on the face of the record and to the manifest prejudice of the accused, the court has the power to notice such error and to correct the same, though no formal exception was taken to the ruling. * * *”

Later cases have also given recognition to the possible exception. *State v. Peterson*, 121 Utah 229, 240 P.2d 504; *State v. Hines*, 6 U.2d 126, 307 P. 2d 887 (1957). The precedent, therefore, will excuse the failure to take an exception only if the error is palpable and so flagrant as to deny a fair trial.

It is submitted that the instruction given was not so palpably erroneous as to warrant a claim of error in the absence of an exception. If the court had instructed differently and included a phrase on the failure to consummate the offense, it could not have helped the appellants. 76-1-30, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

“Any act done with intent to commit a crime, and tending but failing to effect its commission, is an attempt to commit a crime. *Any person may be convicted of an attempt to commit a crime, although it appears on the trial that the crime intended or attempted was perpetrated by such person in pursuance of such attempt*, unless the court, in its discretion, discharges the jury and directs such person to be tried for such crime.”

The above statute allows the conviction of an accused for attempt even where it appears from the evidence that the crime was consummated. In the instant case, the evidence shows that the appellants had already bored two holes into the building. This is sufficient to constitute “entry” and to consummate the offense. Thus, in Clark & Marshall, *Crimes*, 6th Ed. (1958), it is noted:

“The slightest entry, however, is sufficient if it be with felonious intent. * * * It need not be of any part of the body, but an entry may be made by an instrument where the instrument is

inserted for the purpose of committing the felony.

* * *”

In *State v. Crawford*, 8 N.D. 539, 80 N.W. 193 (1899), the North Dakota Supreme Court held that the boring into a grainery and the insertion of the auger into the grainery was sufficient entry to make out the crime.

Thus, appellants would argue that, if the crime were not interrupted and consummated, they would be entitled to acquittal of the attempt charge. This was true at common law, but in states having statutes like ours, consummation is no defense. Consequently, there is no reason to instruct on such an issue. A careful analysis of the law in this area supports a view that where consummation of the crime may still be punished as an attempt, the absence of consummation is not a part of the crime. Thus, Clark & Marshall, *Crimes*, 6th Ed., § 4.14 (1958), correctly states:

“Because of the dominating idea that an essential element of a criminal attempt lies in the failure to consummate the target crime aimed at by the accused, questions have arisen when such crime has been completed whether there can be a conviction for an attempt. This situation is typified by *People v. Lardner*. There the accused was indicted for larceny, and the only evidence offered by the prosecution established proof of larceny, but a verdict of ‘attempt to commit larceny’ was returned. Reversing the judgment and remanding the case, the Illinois court stated: ‘A failure to consummate the crime is as much an essential element of an attempt as the intent and the performance of an overt act toward its com-

mission. Evidence that a crime has been committed will not sustain a verdict for an attempt to commit it, because the essential element of interception or prevention of execution is lacking.' While the Lardner court recognized the theory that where an indictment charges an offense which includes (§ 2.03) a lesser offense a defendant acquitted of the higher offense may be convicted of the lesser, it refused application of that rule to statutory attempts 'because an essential element of the attempt is a failure to consummate the crime.'

"In short, the Illinois court held, in substance, that only behavior described as 'a direct ineffectual act toward the commission of crime' is within the ambit of the statute proscribing and punishing attempts; that consummation of the crime, larceny in this case, took Lardner's behavior out of the reach of the statutory definition of attempt.

"But a different result can be reached in jurisdictions where there is a general statutory provision running in the terms of Rule 31, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, viz.: an accused 'may be found guilty of an offense necessarily included in the offense charged or of an attempt to commit either the offense charged or an offense necessarily included therein if the attempt is an offense.' Jones v. State is a state case, decided under a statutory provision similar to the Federal Rule, where the defendant was indicted and tried for rape and convicted of an attempt to commit that felony. Jones admitted the act but claimed the female consented. His conviction was affirmed although the court recognized the fact that the crime was consummated. This decision rests primarily on the express statutory language.

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